REPORTING
SERVICES

IS

ITTC-53 FINAL

Earth Negotiations Bulletin

A Reporting Service for Environment and Development Negotiations

Vol. 24 No. 88

Online at: http://enb.iisd.org/forestrylitto/ittc53/

Tuesday, 5 December 2017

SUMMARY OF THE FIFTY-THIRD SESSION
OF THE INTERNATIONAL TROPICAL
TIMBER COUNCIL AND ASSOCIATED

SESSIONS OF THE FOUR COMMITTEES:
27 NOVEMBER - 2 DECEMBER 2017

The fifty-third session of the International Tropical Timber
Council (ITTC-53) and the associated sessions of its four
Committees met in Lima, Peru, from 27 November — 2 December
2017. At this session, the Council adopted the Biennial Work
Programme (BWP) for 2018-2019 and the administrative budget
for that biennium, as well as International Tropical Timber
Organization (ITTO) Policy Guidelines on Gender Equality
and Empowering Women. Delegates also discussed initial steps
to improve ITTO’s financing infrastructure and fundraising
strategies, and whether to adopt and operationalize the principle
of rotation in the selection of the ITTO Executive Director.

The fifty-first sessions of the Committee on Economics,
Statistics and Markets, the Committee on Forest Industry, and
the Committee on Reforestation and Forest Management also
convened, to approve projects and pre-projects, review projects
and pre-projects under implementation and ex-post evaluations,
conduct policy work, and indicate their priorities for the BWP
2018-2019. The thirty-second session of the Committee on
Finance and Administration met to discuss, inter alia, the
Biennial Administrative Budget for 2018-2019, the resources of
the Special Account and the Bali Partnership Fund, the auditor’s
reports for the financial year 2016, the appointment of the auditor,
transparency of ITTO documentation, and a request from the
Central African Republic to consider writing off its arrears.

Ten decisions were adopted on: projects, pre-projects and
activities; the ITTO Biennial Work Programme for the years
2018-2019; the Administrative Budget for the 2018-2019
Biennium; the extension of the ITTO Strategic Action Plan 2013-
2018; amendment of Rules of Procedure and financial rules
and rules relating to ITTO projects; ITTO Policy Guidelines on
Gender Equality and Empowering Women; reconfirmation of
further measures regarding the financial impairment; application
of Article 30 of the International Tropical Timber Agreement
2006 (relief from obligations) to the Government of the Central
African Republic; improving ITTO’s financing infrastructure
and fundraising strategies; and rotation in the framework of the
selection of the ITTO Executive Director.

A BRIEF HISTORY OF THE INTERNATIONAL
TROPICAL TIMBER COUNCIL

The International Tropical Timber Agreement (ITTA) was
negotiated under the auspices of the UN Conference on Trade
and Development (UNCTAD) to: provide an effective framework
for cooperation and consultation between countries producing
and consuming tropical timber; promote the expansion and
diversification of international trade in tropical timber and
improve structural conditions in the tropical timber market;
promote and support research and development to improve forest
management and wood utilization; and encourage development of
national policies for the sustainable utilization and conservation
of tropical forests and their genetic resources and for maintaining
the ecological balance in the regions concerned.

The ITTA was adopted on 18 November 1983, and entered into
force on 1 April 1985. It remained in force for an initial period
of five years and was extended twice for three-year periods. The
Agreement was renegotiated during 1993-1994. The successor
agreement, the ITTA, 1994, was adopted on 26 January 1994,
and entered into force on 1 January 1997. It contained broader
provisions for information sharing, including on non-tropical

IN THIS ISSUE

A Brief History of the International Tropical

Timber Council . .. ... . ... . . .. 1
ITTC-53 Report. . .o vo e 2
Council Sessions. . ........coiii i 3
Joint Committee Session. . .. ..........c.ovuuvnn.. 7

Committee on Economic Information and Market

Intelligence and Committee on Forest Industry . . .. ... 8

Committee on Reforestation and Forest

Management . .......... . 10

Committee on Finance and Administration . ........ 12

Closing Plenary. ....................iinin... 14
A Brief Analysis of ITTC-53 . ..................... 15
Upcoming Meetings .. ............couuiriuninan.. 16
GlOSSarY. . . ot 17

This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Keith Ripley, Deborah Davenport, Ph.D., Suzi Malan, Ph.D., and Jonathan
Manley. The Digital Editor is Angeles Estrada. The Editor is Pamela Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@jiisd.org>. The Director of 1ISD Reporting Services is Langston James
“Kimo” Goree VI <kimo@iisd.org>. The Earth Negotiations Bulletin is published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development. The Sustaining Donors
of the Bulletin are the European Union (EU) and the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. General Support for the Bulletin during 2017 is provided by the German Federal
Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservation, Building and Nuclear Safety (BMUB), Italian Ministry for the Environment, Land and Sea, Japanese Ministry of
Environment (through the Institute for Global Environmental Strategies - IGES), New Zealand Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade, Swedish Ministry of Foreign
Affairs, Government of Switzerland (Swiss Federal Office for the Environment (FOEN)), and SWAN International. Specific funding for coverage of this meeting has
been provided by the International Tropical Timber Organization (ITTO) Secretariat and the EU. The opinions expressed in the Bulletin are those of the authors
and do not necessarily reflect the views of IISD or other donors. Excerpts from the Bulletin may be used in non-commercial publications with appropriate academic
citation. For information on the Bulletin, including requests to provide reporting services, contact the Director of IISD Reporting Services at <kimo@jiisd.org>, +1-

646-536-7556 or 300 East 56th St., 11D, New York, NY 10022 USA.



Tuesday, 5 December 2017

Earth Negotiations Bulletin

Vol. 24 No. 88 Page 2

timber trade data, allowed for consideration of non-tropical
timber issues as they relate to tropical timber, and included the
ITTO Objective 2000 for achieving exports of tropical timber and
timber products from sustainably-managed sources by the year
2000. The ITTA, 1994 also established the Bali Partnership Fund
to assist Producer members in achieving the Year 2000 Objective.

In 2003 negotiations began on a successor agreement to the
ITTA, 1994. The ITTA, 2006 was adopted in Geneva on 27
January 2006. The ITTA, 2006 builds on the foundations of the
previous agreements and focuses on the world tropical timber
economy and the sustainable management of the resource base,
simultaneously encouraging the timber trade and improving forest
management. It entered into force on 7 December 2011.

The ITTA, 1983 established the ITTO, headquartered in
Yokohama, Japan, and created new thematic programmes for
strategic use of donor funding. ITTO administers assistance for
related projects. ITTO has 73 members, which are divided into
two caucuses: producer countries (35 members) and consumer
countries (38 members), including the European Union (EU).
ITTO’s membership represents about 90% of world trade in
tropical timber and 80% of the world’s tropical forests.

The governing body of ITTO is the ITTC, which includes all
members. Annual contributions and votes are distributed equally
between Producers and Consumers. The Council is supported
by four committees, which are open to all members and provide
advice and assistance to the Council on issues for consideration
and decision on: Economics, Statistics and Markets (CEM);
Reforestation and Forest Management (CRF); Forest Industry
(CFI); and Finance and Administration (CFA). The Council
also is assisted by the Informal Advisory Group (IAG), created
in 1997, which meets just prior to Council sessions to produce
recommendations and decisions that the ITTC may wish to
consider.

ITTC-44: The 44th session of the ITTC met from 3-8
November 2008, in Yokohama, Japan. The Council discussed
operational, project and policy work for 2008-2009, including:
Thematic Programmes; the Biennial Work Programme (BWP)
for 2008-2009; ITTO Objective 2000; and the ITTO Action Plan
2008-2011. ITTC-44 agreed that future Council sessions would
be held annually, alternating between Yokohama and Producer
member countries, subject to sufficient funding being available
for the incremental costs associated with the latter.

ITTC-45: The 45th session of the ITTC met from 9-14
November 2009 in Yokohama, Japan. At this session, the Council
considered and adopted decisions on: the entry into force of
ITTA, 2006; activities included in the BWP 2010-2011; and
the selection of projects, pre-projects and activities to receive
funding. The Council also held discussions on the implementation
of the BWP for 2008-2009, the status of implementation of the
Thematic Programmes, and the frequency and location of future
Council sessions.

ITTC-46: The 46th session of the ITTC met from 13-18
December 2010 in Yokohama, Japan. The Council reappointed
Emmanuel Ze Meka (Cameroon) as Executive Director for five
years, and decided that no more than US$400,000 shall be spent
from the Administrative Budget on any Council meeting held in
a Producer country. The Council also adopted decisions on the
ITTO/Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD) collaborative
initiative on enhancing biodiversity in production forests and
improved conservation and management of protected areas.

ITTC-47: The 47th session of the ITTC met from 14-19
November 2011 in Antigua, Guatemala. The Council considered:
implementation of the BWP 2010-2011; activities to be included
under the BWP for 2012-2013; the status of implementation of
the Thematic Programmes; and the Administrative Budget for
2012. The Council also reviewed the status of the deposit of
instruments of ratification, acceptance, approval, or accession to
ITTA, 2006.

ITTC-48: The 48th session of the ITTC met from 5-10
November 2012 in Yokohama, Japan. The Council announced
funding of US$9 million for sustainable forest management
(SFM) and to support trade in sustainably harvested tropical
forest resources. The Council also approved the ITTO 2013-2018
Strategic Action Plan.

ITTC-49: The 49th session of the ITTC met from 25-30
November 2013 in Libreville, Gabon. The Council discussed
the revised Principles and Guidelines for the Sustainable
Management of Natural Tropical Forests, the establishment of a
regional office for Africa, and strategies on resource mobilization
and knowledge management. The Council decided, inter alia,
to call for applications for the Executive Director position and
organize a regional workshop on SFM and forest education in
Latin America.

ITTC-50: The 50th session of the ITTC met from 3-8
November 2014 in Yokohama, Japan. The Council was unable
to reach agreement on the selection of a new Executive Director,
postponing decision on this matter until ITTC-51 and extending
Ze Meka’s contract for an additional year. Delegates were
also unable to reach agreement on admission of observers, but
adopted a decision to create a working group to examine related
procedures. Delegates participated in a panel discussion on
“ITTO’s Past, Present and Future.”

ITTC-51: The 51st session of the ITTC met from 16-21
November 2015 in Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. The Council was
unable to reach agreement on the selection of a new Executive
Director, postponing the decision on this matter until ITTC-52,
and instead named an interim Officer-in-Charge (OIC) in light of
Ze Meka'’s resignation just before the meeting. Decisions were
adopted on: renewing the mandate of the IAG; the admission of
observers; and the terms of reference for a panel to investigate
the loss of US$18 million in ITTO funds through two failed
investments.

ITTC-52: The 52nd session of the ITTC met from 7-12
November 2016 in Yokohama, Japan. The Council appointed
Gerhard Dieterle (Germany) as the new Executive Director
for a period of four years, revised ITTO Financial Rules and
Procedures, adopted several decisions regarding ITTO’s financial
impairment and guidelines for addressing ITTO’s financial
shortfall, extended the ITTO Biennial Work Programme 2015-
2016 through 2017, and created an ad hoc working group
(AHWG) to consider rotation in the framework of the selection of
the ITTO Executive Director.

ITTC-53 REPORT

ITTC-53 opened on Monday, 27 November 2017, with a
formal ceremony featuring the President of Peru, Pedro Pablo
Kuczynski Godard. Pablo Benjamin Quijandria Salmoén, Vice
Minister, Ministry of Agriculture and Irrigation, Peru, welcomed
delegates on behalf of Minister José Manuel Hernandez Calderon.
He emphasized the importance of forests to Peru in terms of



Vol. 24 No. 88 Page 3

Earth Negotiations Bulletin

Tuesday, 5 December 2017

exports and the provision of goods, services, and employment,
while protecting biodiversity and combating climate change.

ITTC-53 Chair Tabi Agyarko (Ghana), on behalf of the
Council, thanked Peru for hosting ITTC-53 and President
Kuczynski for attending the opening of the Council.

Noting that Peru was a founding member of ITTO, Executive
Director Gerhard Dieterle expressed the Organization’s
appreciation for the presence of President Kuczynski as an
indication of Peru’s continuing commitment to ITTO and its
goals. He noted President Kuczynski’s promotion of the role
of forests in providing freshwater supply and his championing
of forest restoration, and presented the President with a
commemorative crystal plaque.

President Kuczynski observed that countries with large tropical
forest cover such as Peru always struggle over whether to use
forests or “leave them alone.” He explained that Peru has sought
to reduce exploitation of tropical forests and to create new forest
cover, mentioning the experimental Blue Sierra Program to
afforest the western edge of the Andes. He said Peru is convinced
of the need to protect tropical forests, stressing that such
protective initiatives should be international in nature.

Chair Agyarko officially opened the Council session by
commending the efforts of the Secretariat to support the ITTO
following the difficulties related to the impairment of funds,
delayed election of the Executive Director, and reduced donor
funding. He noted the growing gap between project fund
requirements and the funds available, calling on the Council
to make the difficult decisions needed to address this. He also
emphasized the task of the Council to improve the rules and
modalities for election of the Executive Director.

Benito Owusu-Bio, Deputy Minister of Lands and Natural
Resources, Ghana, underlined the Ghanaian government’s efforts
to reduce forest degradation and deforestation, noting that a
large part of this was from increases in cocoa agriculture, and
highlighted the revision of Ghana’s forest management policy
to move away from viewing forests purely for timber trade to
promoting payments for environmental services.

John Leigh, Executive Director, National Forestry and Wildlife
Service (SERFOR), Peru, outlined SERFOR’s efforts to create
open, transparent, and sustainable management of the Peruvian
forestry chain of custody that improves monitoring of forest
products and tracking forest operators’ activities, and addresses
wildlife trafficking.

Eva Miiller, UN Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO)
and Chair of the Collaborative Partnership on Forests (CPF),
applauded the ITTO and FAO partnership on forest governance
and environmental service management. She emphasized the need
for strengthening partnerships, pledged renewed commitment
for joint activities with ITTO, and invited participants to a CPF
international conference in February 2018 to explore ways to
accelerate progress towards achieving Sustainable Development
Goal (SDG) Target 15.2 and Target 1.1 of the UN Strategic Plan
for Forests (UNSPF).

Manoel Sobral Filho, Director, UN Forum on Forests (UNFF),
recalled UN agreement on the UNSPF, saying it provides an
ambitious vision for global forests in 2030. He described its set
of six Global Forest Goals and associated targets to be reached
by 2030. Sobral urged partnering UNFF with ITTO to access and
leverage funds to improve SFM in tropical forests worldwide.

In a video message, John Scanlon, Secretary-General,
Convention of International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild

Fauna and Flora (CITES), underscored the ongoing collaboration
of CITES with ITTO and highlighted the ITTO-CITES
programme on tropical timber species.

Executive Director Dieterle underscored this crucial period for
the ITTO, after the worst crisis in its history, and commended the
Secretariat’s efforts towards its recovery. He highlighted topics
for discussion at ITTC-53, stressing the need for clear direction
on ITTO’s future. He noted that increased forest degradation is
creating a gap between the supply of forest goods and services
and the demand for these by growing populations that depend on
them. He called for discussion on how ITTO can bring production
forests and sustainable supply chains to the international agenda
and on how to structure financing for this work.

ORGANIZATIONAL MATTERS: Chair Agyarko announced
that Zhang Zhongtian (China) had been nominated by the
Consumer caucus as ITTC-53 Vice-Chair. Executive Director
Dieterle confirmed that quorum was attained for the session.
Chair Agyarko presented the provisional agenda (ITTC(LIII)/1
Rev.1), which was adopted.

Executive Director Dieterle noted that the membership of
ITTA, 2006 remains at 38 Producers and 35 Consumers but
reported that Sri Lanka has indicated interest in ratifying and
becoming a member. Chair Agyarko drew attention to the
distribution of votes for the 2018-2019 biennium provided in the
annex to document ITTC(LIIT)/1 Rev.1.

COUNCIL SESSIONS

The Council met throughout the week to consider issues
concerning operational, project, and policy work.

REPORT OF THE CREDENTIALS COMMITTEE: On
Saturday, Leoncio Julio Ugarte Guerra (Peru), Chair, Credentials
Committee, presented the report of the Committee (ITTC(LIII)/3),
saying that the credentials of 46 countries and the EU had
been accepted, with delegation of votes: from Australia to New
Zealand; from Austria, France, Latvia, and Poland to Estonia;
from Croatia, Hungary, Ireland, Lithuania, Luxembourg, Portugal,
Slovak Republic, and Spain to the EU; and from the UK to the
Netherlands. The Council approved the report.

ADMISSION OF OBSERVERS: On Monday, Chair
Agyarko invited the Council to consider the lists of observers for
admission (ITTC(LII)/Info.3 and ITTC(LIII)/Info.5) according
to the review of procedures related to admission of observers
undertaken at ITTC-51. With no objection raised, he declared the
15 observers listed in ITTC(LIIT)/Info.5 formally admitted.

STATEMENT BY THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR:
Executive Director Dieterle highlighted Secretariat actions since
ITTC-52 to recover from ITTO’s financial crisis, including,
inter alia: implementing revised financial rules and auditing
procedures; efforts to recover lost funds; developing draft gender
guidelines; testing new environmental and social safeguards;
rebuilding trust and confidence in ITTO; and reestablishing
ITTO’s role in the international forest regime. He then presented
ideas for future ITTO work, emanating from: new scientific
research indicating that forest degradation, largely due to poor
forest management, is leading to higher levels of carbon dioxide
emissions than previously estimated; and a growing gap between
supply and demand for timber and other harvested forest products
due to declining capacity of many degraded forests to supply
essential forest products and services, and rapid population
growth that increases demand for them.



Tuesday, 5 December 2017

Earth Negotiations Bulletin

Vol. 24 No. 88 Page 4

Dieterle noted that productive forests, forest landscapes, and
value chains must be promoted for the global forest climate and
development agenda, emphasizing that this fits ITTO’s mandate.
He recommended five approaches to close the supply-demand
gap, including: conserving essential high-biodiversity and
protection forests to provide public goods; restoring degraded
multipurpose forest landscapes for productive use; investing in
highly productive forests for mass-market consumer products to
relieve pressure on high-biodiversity natural forests; managing
and using existing forests sustainably and efficiently; and
establishing green supply chains and trade to ensure legality
and sustainability. He said these approaches represent a win-
win opportunity for ITTO. Dieterle called for recognizing that
productive tropical forests are not a “problem” but rather an
important part of the solution, and stressed the need for a stable,
coherent, and simple ITTO financing structure, reinforced with
unearmarked funds, to rebuild the full support and trust of all
members.

The Chair opened the floor for comments on the Executive
Director’s presentation. On a query from the US to keep the
current structure, and slot green supply chains into the existing
thematic programmes, Dieterle noted elements of green supply
chains do exist under various funding areas, but not as a
programme. He stressed that the current funding architecture is
overly complex and should be simplified. The EU and France
expressed support for emphasizing green supply chains, with
France announcing it will be seconding a forestry officer to the
ITTO Secretariat to increase capacity. The US noted it would
consider the Executive Director’s proposal further.

REPORT OF THE INFORMAL ADVISORY GROUP
(IAG): On Monday, Chair Agyarko introduced the IAG report
(ITTC(LIII)/2), including Decisions 3(XXII), S(XXVI), 2(XLIX)
and 2(LI)), and invited members to consider the report before
providing feedback.

ITTO BIENNIAL WORK PROGRAMME (BWP):
Current BWP: On Tuesday, the Secretariat presented a progress
report on the implementation of the BWP for 2015-2016
(ITTC(LIII)/S), noting that ITTC-52, under Decision 2(LII), had
decided to extend that BWP into 2017. He noted that the BWP
contained 51 activities, 30 seeking voluntary contributions, six
funded through the cooperation budget, and 15 routine activities
with no cost implications. He reported that of the 30 activities
seeking voluntary contributions 20% received full funding, 43.3%
partial, and 36.7% none at all, with the Strategic Priority on good
governance and enabling policy frameworks for strengthening
SFM and related trade receiving the least amount of voluntary
funding sought at 16.9%, while the Strategic Priority on
increasing the contribution of tropical forests to national and local
economies received 119.3% of the voluntary funding sought.

Noting a number of activities that could not be funded, the
EU said this underscores the need to provide prioritization of
activities in the next BWP, especially in the early stages of
ITTO’s financial recovery.

The Secretariat also offered a brief presentation on
communications and outreach efforts, both standalone and those
in support of other activities, noting recent efforts to use social
media to reach target audiences and drive traffic to the ITTO
website, and plans for a completely revamped website to be
launched in 2018. In response to questions from the US, the
Secretariat said: all social media apps provide metrics to track
traffic; the Secretariat can provide the link to the new website’s

test site to delegations interested in providing feedback; and the
upcoming communications strategy will aim to identify which
outreach efforts are most cost-effective.

ITTO Fellowship Programme: On Friday, the Secretariat
presented the Fellowship Programme’s progress report
(ITTC(LIII)/8), and Zhang Zhongtian, Chair of the Fellowship
Selection Panel, presented the Panel’s report (ITTC(LIII)/9),
noting 137 applicants, of which 46 were pre-selected. He reported
that the Panel recommended the Council award 18 fellows, 33%
of whom are women, with 39% from Africa, 33% from Asia/
Pacific, and 28% from Latin America and the Caribbean.

Draft ITTO Policy Guidelines for Achieving Gender
Equality and Empowering Women (GEEW): On Tuesday,
Chair Agyarko introduced the report on this item (ITTC(LIII)/6).
Stephanie Caswell, ITTO Consultant, summarized the steps taken
to develop the guidelines, including consideration of other forest-
related gender guidance documents, such as the Green Climate
Fund (GCF) and Global Environment Facility (GEF) gender
requirements, the strategies and plans of the CPF, and the 2030
Agenda for Sustainable Development.

Malaysia, with the Civil Society Advisory Group (CSAG)
and the US, commended the development of the guidelines.
CSAG recommended strengthening the section on women’s
empowerment, and suggested requiring gender-responsive
indicators throughout the project cycle in order to enforce
implementation of the GEEW. UNFF recalled its objective to
achieve gender parity by 2021, and said the entire UN system
is to do so by 2028. The EU urged the Council to accelerate
the decision process to ensure rapid implementation of the
GEEW. The US suggested taking concrete actions to ensure
implementation, such as incorporating scoring on women’s
empowerment in project appraisals, and investigating the use of
existing training materials on gender. Executive Director Dieterle
said the GEEW should be “a living document,” with gender
aspects considered in the same way as environmental and social
aspects are during project proposal screening.

Draft BWP for 2018-2019. On Tuesday, the Secretariat
presented the Draft BWP 2018-2019 (ITTC(LIII)/7), noting the
BWP was developed while taking note of input from Members,
the Trade Advisory Group (TAG), CSAG, BWP 2015-2016, and
Strategic Priorities from the Strategic Action Plan 2013-2018. He
underscored that new structures and formats were developed for
grouping and presenting the BWP activities in the draft, as well as
to link each BWP activity with a relevant ITTO Strategic Priority
and the UNSPF Global Forest Goals. He noted that activities in
the BWP require funds from both the core budget and voluntary
contributions, requiring, in total, about US$9.87 million.

Executive Director Dieterle explained that the new BWP had
evolved from being a “shopping list” of activities to having an
internal logic that speaks directly to ITTO’s core objectives as per
the ITTA mandate. He highlighted the five proposed new areas of
activities, namely:

- field-oriented activities in member countries, that focus on

ITTO’s role in establishing value chains;

 normative work on policy guidelines or other strategic work,
that will focus on changes for the ITTO’s future;

- collaborative work/meetings with other organizations/
initiatives;

- communications and outreach-related work; and

- analytical, statistical, and other recurring work, which is a core
strength and provides competitive advantage for ITTO.



Vol. 24 No. 88 Page 5

Earth Negotiations Bulletin

Tuesday, 5 December 2017

During the discussion, the EU called for further slimming
down activities, given that ITTO is still in financial recovery.
Japan stressed ensuring capable management of the BWP,
with transparency and regular feedback. China underscored
their support in developing green supply chains. In response to
feedback and queries from the US, Executive Director Dieterle
said ITTO’s role in collaborative efforts with the World Bank and
FAO would be linking the data with information from producers
on the ground to enable them to gain access to macroeconomic
financing and incentives.

ENHANCING COOPERATION BETWEEN ITTO
AND CITES: On Friday, the Secretariat presented a report on
the listing of tropical tree species in the CITES Appendices
and on the implementation of the ITTO-CITES Programme
(ITTC(LIII)/4). The ITTO Secretariat reported no new proposals
for listing. He noted that the second phase of the Programme,
funded by the European Commission (EC) and managed by
ITTO, had ended in 2016 and due to the uncertainties created by
ITTO’s financial impairment, the EC had given the grant for the
third phase directly to the CITES Secretariat to manage, while
ITTO still performs the Programme’s technical functions.

Milena Sosa-Schmidt, CITES Secretariat, noted that the EC
announced a contribution of €7 million in July 2017 to support
the sustainable management of tree species through CITES, which
will support 25 countries of CITES-listed tree species exporters
in Africa, Asia, and Latin America. She said the first call for
proposals for the CITES Tree Species Programme went out in
August 2017, resulting in 68 proposals from 41 countries. Sosa-
Schmidt explained that the Programme’s Advisory Committee
has decided that US$5 million in funding currently available will
cover 18 proposals, while covering all 68 would require US$14
million. She urged other donors to join the EC in funding the
Programme.

Cameroon, Panama, and the EU also urged other donors to
contribute. The US expressed its support for the Programme, and
announced its intention to financially support it through ITTO
under the BWP 2018-2019.

PROGRESS REPORT ON THE IMPLEMENTATION
OF THE ITTO THEMATIC PROGRAMMES: On
Wednesday, the Secretariat introduced this item (ITTC(LIII)/10),
saying 79 projects have been approved for funding: 29 under
Forest Law Enforcement, Governance and Trade, 31 under
Reducing Deforestation and Forest Degradation and Enhancing
Environmental Services, five under Community Forest
Management and Enterprises, and 14 under Trade and Market
Transparency. He reported that as of October 2017, 65 projects
had been completed, seven were ongoing, four had lapsed, and
three had been terminated. He referred members to selected
achievements and impacts of the completed projects, summarized
in Chapter 4 of the report.

China highlighted the positive impacts of the CITES WeChat
mobile web page project, saying this makes possible wide
distribution of critical timber and species information every two
weeks, thus positively influencing logging practices. Papua New
Guinea urged reconsideration of the terminated project on chain
of custody verification for timber, and Cameroon thanked ITTO
for support on two projects in Cameroon.

Japan lamented potential funding gaps and irregular payment,
due to shortage of funds, for a project on strengthening
participatory systems in the Amazon region.

The EU reiterated an earlier call for more results-oriented
projects that form part of a coherent set of activities. The
Secretariat referenced the Executive Director’s opening
presentation that addressed this issue.

SPECIAL ACCOUNT AND BALI PARTNERSHIP FUND
(BPF): Report of the Panel on Sub-Account B of the BPF: On
Friday, the Secretariat introduced the report of the panel on Sub-
Account B of the BPF at its 23rd Meeting (ITTC(LII)/11) and
the Council adopted the report.

Cameroon, on behalf of Producers, expressed concern over
lack of funds, especially for projects already analyzed and
approved, which have entered the “sunset” phase without funding.
She requested reassurance from Consumers and donors, through
reconsidering the sunset clause’s terms and an adjustment in the
current approach to extend these projects’ life cycle. Peru, with
Costa Rica, noted that the funding crisis had been a problem prior
to the impairment of funds, and reminded that, without adequate
funding, the ITTO becomes paralyzed and unable to provide any
support to tropical timber-producing countries.

Executive Director Dieterle concurred that the lack of funding
indicates structural deficiencies within the organization, and urged
strengthening the Organization’s financial expertise.

Chair Agyarko referred the item for further consultation in the
caucuses, and invited submissions to the Secretariat. On Saturday,
Chair Agyarko advised the Council that Producers may apply to
the Executive Director for extension for such projects.

Pledges to the Special Account and the BPF: On Saturday
morning, Chair Agyarko opened the floor for interventions on
pledges. Acknowledging the visionary leadership of the new
Executive Director and the direction of the BWP 2018-2019,
Germany pledged US$1 million to extension of the teak project,
to act as a nucleus fund for transnational activities.

Citing disapproval from his country’s audit board for
negligence in overlooking the loss of US$6 million during the
previous financial periods, Japan regretted being unable to make
any new pledges. He undertook to make every effort to convince
his government of the sincere desire of ITTO to manage its funds
responsibly in future, and urged the ITTO to continue efforts to
recover lost funds and pursue legal efforts to hold former ITTO
staff accountable.

China pledged a voluntary contribution of US$100,000 to the
Special Account.

Noting the promise of good stewardship under the new
Executive Director and the opportunity afforded by the BWP
2018-2019 to reinvigorate focus, the US pledged: US$50,000
towards the activity on incentives for green-growth value
chain investments in tropical forests; US$75,000 towards the
activity on strengthening participation of the private sector in
the work of ITTO, with the World Resources Institute (WRI)
pledging an in-kind contribution for work on compliance
and matching countries’ contributions; US$200,000 towards
enhancing cooperation between ITTO and CITES; US$25,000
towards operationalizing the GEEW under the ITTO; US$25,000
for cooperation and consultation with the CPF; US$40,000
for engagement with private sector and civil society groups;
US$50,000 for the ITTO Fellowship Programme; US$50,000 for
full project development of the natural regeneration of timber
forest species in Tahuamanu province in Peru; US$50,000 for
increasing acacia plantation and timber processing industry
efficiency in Viet Nam; and US$80,000 for establishing a system



Tuesday, 5 December 2017

Earth Negotiations Bulletin

Vol. 24 No. 88 Page 6

for collection, storage, processing, and dissemination of forest and
wildlife statistics in Cameroon.

The Republic of Korea pledged US$40,000 for ITTO projects,
and Chair Agyarko noted that Finland, the Netherlands, and
Japan have requested using un-utilized funds for the Fellowship
Programme and to support activities. Chair Agyarko thanked
members for their pledges, saying “A friend in need is a friend
indeed.”

ITTO COLLABORATIONS WITH OTHER
ORGANIZATIONS/INITIATIVES: Discussion on this item
was held Wednesday and Friday.

Eva Miiller, FAO, stated that FAO and ITTO are longstanding
partners, and underlined that now, more than ever, partnerships
are important for the synergistic effects of both greater impact and
ability to access financing. She emphasized outcomes of the FAO
Sustainable Wood for a Sustainable World meeting, including
on: the need to change the public perception that productive
forestry is negative and causes deforestation; leveling the playing
fields between legal and illegal timber; improving market access
for sustainable timber products, especially from small-holders;
and securitization and monetization of the full range of forest
products and services, noting increasing global demand. Miiller
highlighted the need to engage with architects to promote the use
of traditional and new wood products in the building industry.
She also underlined ITTO’s role, along with FAO and other CPF
members, in the international conference, Working Across Sectors
to Halt Deforestation and Increase Forest Area, to be held at FAO
headquarters in February 2018.

Michael Kleine, International Union of Forest Research
Organizations (IUFRO), presented advantages of ITTO
collaboration with IUFRO, including being the only forestry
network with a global scope for cooperation in forest science
with access to over 15,000 scientists’ research. He noted IUFRO
does not merely generate science, but also “brings it to where
the findings are needed.” Highlighting some of the programmes
that can benefit ITTO members, Kleine said there are many
opportunities to collaborate with the science community, and
pledged full support to ITTO members through providing science-
based results and opportunities for capacity building.

David Cooper, CBD, in a video message, thanked the ITTO for
continued collaboration in strengthening efforts towards achieving
the Aichi Biodiversity Targets, and invited the organization
to participate in developing the Post-2020 Strategic Plan for
Biodiversity. He congratulated the ITTO member countries
that were part of the joint Emerald Triangle Protected Forests
Complex initiative, stressing it will provide a major contribution
against biodiversity loss and climate change.

The Secretariat highlighted the background to the ITTO-CBD
collaboration, and reported on 10 further joint projects under
implementation, lauding the focus of the joint initiatives of
improved production and protection of forests through sustainable
forest management. The Secretariat launched the “Bright Green
Hotspots” technical publication, containing the outcomes of the
Emerald Triangle Protected Forests Complex project.

In comments, Thailand, Guatemala, Malaysia, and Benin
expressed their thanks to donors and implementing stakeholders
for their efforts, and together Indonesia and Japan highlighted the
importance and benefits of CBD/ITTO cooperation.

IMPAIRMENT OF ITTO FUNDS: On Monday, the
Secretariat presented a summary report on the implementation
of decisions dealing with the impairment of ITTO funds

(ITTC(LIIT)/12). He highlighted that: all impacted projects are
back on track; ITTO reserves are currently depleted; a court
case against the investment advisor is ongoing; ITTO’s former
management may yet be found partly liable for the loss; and all
Council decisions have been implemented and internal controls
strengthened.

The US confirmed that the US Justice Department has yet to
respond to requests for information or follow-up actions regarding
the Ardent Fund case and the New York-based companies
involved. He asked for confirmation that the revisions to UN
Staff Compensation Rules have been concluded. The Secretariat
responded that these are still underway, and committed to prepare
recommendations for ITTC-54 in this regard.

Japan urged the Secretariat to pursue recovery of ITTO
contributions to former management’s provident fund for their
retirement, and, supported by Switzerland, offered text of a draft
decision on “reconfirmation of further measures regarding the
financial impairment.” He stressed that unless the steps outlined
in the draft decision pertaining to the recovery of funds are
adopted, Japan will withhold voluntary contributions to ITTO.

The Republic of Korea, Guatemala, and Peru commended the
work of the Secretariat to enable resumption of all projects, and
the Republic of Korea pledged further support by continuing their
financial contribution to project funds.

The EU welcomed the report, saying it signified that the ITTO
was on the road to recovery. He expressed disappointment in the
response from previous Executive Director Ze Meka that declined
to return any funds.

REPORT OF THE AD HOC WORKING GROUP TO
CONSIDER ROTATION IN THE FRAMEWORK OF THE
SELECTION OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR: On
Tuesday, Jorge Malleux Orjeda (Peru), Co-Chair of the AHWG
created under Decision 9(LII), presented the AHWG’s report
(ITTC(LIIT)/13). He reported that the Group had identified
options including alt